
THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF RHODE ISLAND 

Keven A. McKenna, 
Plaintiff 

v. 
Marc DeSisto, 
Debra Saunders, 
J. Joseph Baxter, 
Deborah Walsh, 
PaulSuttell 

Defendants 

C.A. 11-

CA 11 ~ 602~~ 

COMPLAINT TO QUASH SUBPOENAE DUCES TECUM, TO DECLARE PUTATIVE 
ADMINISTRATIVE ACTIONS UNCONSTITUTIONAL, AND TO DECLARE 

CERTAIN ADMINISTRATIVE STATUTORY DELEGATIONS TO THE R.I. JUDICIAL 
BRANCH UNCONSTITUTIONAL. 

Parties: 

1. The Plaintiff is Keven A. McKenna, is a resident of Rhode Island. 

2. The Defendant, Marc DeSisto is a resident of Rhode Island, who practices law in the State of 

Rhode Island, who is being sued for undertaking an unconstitutional inquisition of the 

Plaintiff without statutory or constitutional authority, in violation of the Due Process clauses 

and the search and seizures clauses of the State and U.S. Constitutions. 

3. The Defendant, Debra Saunders is a resident of Rhode Island, who is being sued in her 

representative capacity as a principal officer of the State of Rhode Island as the Chief Clerk 

of the Rhode Island Supreme Court, who was unconstitutionally appointed by Defendant 

Paul Suttell, without the authority of the Governor under Article IX §5 1 of the R.I. 

1R.I.Const.§5. Powers of appointment. The governor shall, by and with the advice and consent of the senate, appoint 
all officers of the state whose appointment is not herein otherwise provided for and all members of any board, 
commission or other state or quasi-public entity which exercises executive power under the laws of this state; but the 
general assembly may by law vest the appointment of such inferior officers, as they deem proper, in the governor, or 
within their respective departments in the other general officers, the judiciary or in the heads of departments. 

1 

Case 1:11-cv-00602-ML-DLM   Document 1    Filed 12/05/11   Page 1 of 24 PageID #: 1



Constitution, who has issued unconstitutional subpoenae duce tecum against the Plaintiff's 

personal property on behalf of Defendant DeSisto. 

4. Defendant J. Joseph Baxter, Jr. is a resident of Rhode Island, who is being sued in his 

capacity as a principal officer of the State of Rhode Island as State Court Administrator, who 

was unconstitutionally appointed by Defendant Paul Suttell. 

5. Defendant Baxter, under the administrative direction of Defendant Suttell, unconstitutionally 

exercises budgetary, personnel, and contractual authorities of an elected Governor, under§§ 

12,23,154
, and 165 of Article IX of the Rl. State Constitution, contrary to the voting rights, 

liberty interests and property rights of the Plaintiff under the State and Federal Constitution, 

which protect the Plaintiff and other similarly situated voters against the exercise of royal 

powers by the State officials to oppress the Plaintiff and other citizens. 

6. Defendant Deborah Walsh is a resident of Rhode Island, who is being sued in her capacity as 

a principal officer of the State of Rhode Island, as State Director of Court Finance and 

Assistant Administrator for Finance and Budget, whose position is appointed and supervised 

by Defendant Paul Suttell. 

7. Defendant Deborah Walsh, under the administrative direction of Defendant Suttell, 

unconstitutionally exercises budgetary, personnel, and contractual authorities of an elected 

2 R.I. Const. Article IX§ 1. Power vested in governor. The chief executive power of this state shall be vested in a 
~overnor, who, together with a lieutenant governor, shall be elected by the people. 

R.I. Const. Article IX § 2. Faithful execution of laws. The governor shall take care that the laws be faithfully 
executed. 
4 R.I. Const. Article IX §15. State budget. The governor shall prepare and present to the general assembly an 
annual, consolidated operating and capital improvement state budget. 
5 R.I. Const. Article IX §16. Limitation on state spending.[ (a) No appropriation, supplemental appropriation or 
budget act shall cause the aggregate state general revenue appropriations enacted in any given fiscal year to exceed 
ninety-eight percent (98%) of the estimated state general revenues for such fiscal year from all sources, including 
estimated unencumbered general revenues to the new fiscal year remaining at the end of the previous fiscal year. 
*** (c) Within forty-five (45) days after the close of any fiscal year, all unencumbered general revenue in the year 
end surplus account from the said fiscal year shall be transferred to the general fund. 
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Governor, under§§ 1,2,15, and 16 of Article IX ofthe RI. State Constitution, as if those 

powers were royal powers, to oppress the Plaintiff contrary to his voting rights, liberty 

interests and property rights as protected by the State and Federal Constitution. 

8. Defendant Paul Suttell is a resident of Rhode Island and is a member of the Rhode Island 

Supreme Court, whose sole constitutional duty pursuant to§ 2 of Article X of the Rhode 

Island Constitution, is to adjudicate cases and controversies pending in the Rhode Island 

Supreme Court. 

9. The Defendant Paul Suttell is only being sued in his putative legislative capacity for 

exercising illegal rule making authority not authorized by an elected General Assembly under 

Article VI § 1 and 2§ and for exercising his putative unconstitutional executive capacities 

under R.I.G.L. §8-15-2, R.I.G.L.§ 8-15-2.1, R.I.G.L.§ 8-15-4. R.I.G.L. § 8-15-5, and 

R.I.G.L. § 8-15-9, which interfere with appointive, budgetary, personnel, and contractual 

authorities of an elected Governor, under§§ 1, 2, 56
, 15, and 16 of Article IX of the RI. State 

Constitution, contrary to the voting rights, liberty interests and property rights of the Plaintiff 

under the State and Federal Constitution, which protect the Plaintiff against the exercise of 

royal powers by the State officials. 

Jurisdiction: 

10. This Honorable Court has jurisdiction pursuant to the provisions of28 U.S.C. §1331 which 

provides jurisdiction under the Constitution and Laws of the United States; pursuant to the 

6 R.I. Const. Article IX §5. Powers of appointment. The governor shall, by and with the advice and consent of the 
senate, appoint all officers of the state whose appointment is not herein otherwise provided for and all members of 
any board, commission or other state or quasi-public entity which exercises executive power under the laws of this 
state; but the general assembly may by law vest the appointment of such inferior officers, as they deem proper, in 
the governor, or within their respective departments in the other general officers, the judiciary or in the heads of 
departments. 
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provisions of28 U.S.C, § 2201 which provide for declaratory relief, and pursuant to the 

provisions of 42 U.S.C. § 1983, which provide for relief from U.S. Constitutional Violations 

and pursuant to 28 § 1367 which provide for supplemental relief pursuant to state law. 

11. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 (b) (2) in the events or 

omissions giving rise to this claim which have occurred in Rhode Island. 

12. Plaintiff has constitutional jurisdiction under Article III of the U.S. Constitution because 

there are redressible claims in this Complaint for which the Plaintiff has suffered harm from 

Defendants' U.S. Constitutional violations of the First Amendment, of the Fourth 

Amendment protection, of the Due Process Clauses in the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments 

and, from the Defendants' State Constitutional violation of Due Process rights, Article I§ 2, 

ofhis Right to Petition and to seek redress, Art. I§ 21, and his protection against the 

tyranny of concentrated powers as required by Article V, Distribution of Powers, and from 

the invasion ofhis privacy as protected by Rhode Island General Laws§ 9-1-28.1 (1). 

13. Plaintiff avers that the Defendants are attempting to penalize him and chill his exercise of his 

freedom of expression (i) as protected by the First Amendment Freedom of Speech Clause of 

the U.S. Constitution and as protected by§ 21 of Article I of the Rhode Island State 

Constitution, (ii) by violating the Fourth Amendment's protection against unreasonable 

seizure of the Plaintiffs papers (iii) and by the Defendants' attempt to take his property, to 

wit, his license to practice law, without due process, in violation of the Fourth and Fifth 

Amendment of the United States Constitution as applied to the State of Rhode Island through 

the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution, as otherwise protected through 

the provisions of 42 U.S.C.§ 1983. 
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14. Defendants are further violating the Plaintiffs due process rights under the Fourteenth and 

Fifth Amendment to have a fair adjudication of his causes of actions since the Defendant 

Suttell in his adjudicative capacity is incapable of adjudicating his own constitutional 

violations of the Executive Powers contained in Article IX and the Legislative Powers 

contained in Article VI of the Rhode Island Constitution and of the Due Process Clause of 

the Rhode Island State Constitution. 

15. Plaintiff, as a consequence of those actions, is suffering irreparable harm and has no other 

adequate remedy at law. 

Facts: 

16. Plaintiff, Keven A. McKenna, as a Rhode Island voter, has voted in each state referendum 

since 1972 in which an Amendment to the Rhode Island State Constitution was pending for 

approval or denial and is a representative of persons whose vote has created the Rhode Island 

State Constitution. 

17. Pursuant to Rhode Island General Laws§ 8-1-2, the Rhode Island Supreme Court admitted 

Keven A, McKenna to the practice of law in Rhode Island in June of 1973. Keven A. 

McKenna practices in all Rhode Island Courts. 

18. To the Plaintiffs knowledge, there are no Complaints or investigations involving him 

pending before the Rhode Island Disciplinary Board as putatively created by Article III of the 

Rhode Island Supreme Court Rule without the authority of the General Assembly. 

19. From 1979 to 1985, the Plaintiff, Keven A. McKenna was a member of the Rhode Island 

General Assembly. 

20. The Plaintiff was the 1986 President of the Rhode Island Constitutional Convention and has 

served as a Providence Municipal Court Judge from 1985 through 1991. 
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21. From December of 1996 through December of 2001, Keven A McKenna was the sole 

stockholder and officer of Keven A. McKenna P.C. a subchapter S professional corporation, 

organized pursuant to the provisions ofRhode Island General Laws 7-5.1-3. 

22. On July 30, 2004, prior to the passage of the Separation of Powers Provisions on November 

4, 2004, Article 45, ofP.L. 2004; ch. 495, was enacted as the result of closed door lobbying 

by former Chief Judge Frank Williams. 

23. The provisions of Article 45, ofP.L. 2004; ch. 495 granting the judicial process to the 

Defendants are in conflict with the Constitutional Separation of Power amendments enacted 

November 4, 2004 by the Plaintiff and other similarly situated voters. 

24. The conflicting provisions of Article 45 being applied by the Defendants remain as follows: 

1. Rhode Island General Laws §8-15-4 (c) (d), and (f) granted the Defendants, Suttell, Baxter 

and Walsh, the budgetary, personnel, and contract powers of the Governor over the Ninety 

million ($90,000,000) Dollars +plus judicial budget; 

ii. Rhode Island General Laws §35-3-1 exempted the money of the state judiciary from control 

of the State Budget officer appointed by the governor. 

iii. Rhode Island General Laws §35-3-5. required direct review of judiciary budget by 

Legislative without review by the Governor; 

IV. Rhode Island General Laws §36-4-2.1 exempted the employees of the judiciary from the 

state merit service managed by the Governor and allowed the judiciary it own patronage 

appointments. 

v. Rhode Island General Laws §36-4-16.4 exempted the salaries of judges from the powers of 

the Unclassified Pay Board appointed by the Governor; 
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v1. Rhode Island General Laws §35-6-1(6) exempted the State Controller who is appointed by 

the Governor from rejecting any expense incurred by the Judiciary. 

25. In November of 2004, the Plaintiff and other similar situated voters approved the enacted of 

the Rhode Island Constitutional Separation of Powers of Amendments, Article IV, Article V, 

Article VI, and Article IX, which limited the judiciary and the Defendants to the sole 

exercise of adjudicatory powers. 

26. In 2005, the Plaintiff, Keven A. McKenna, filed litigation challenging former Chief Justice 

Frank Williams' constitutional ability to hold dual state and federal judicial positions. 

27. In 2008, 2009, 2010, and 2011 the Plaintiff has publicly criticized the present and the past 

Chief Justice and present Chief Justice of the Rhode Island Supreme Court for usurping will 

of the voters contained in the November 4, 2004 Separation of Powers Constitutional 

Amendment by their misuse of the appointment powers of the Governor and of the 

Governor's hiring, property management powers and regulatory powers. 

Count I 
(Quashing Illegal Subpoenae, DeSisto Appointment, Unconstitutional Rule Making) 

28. Averments one (1) through twenty-seven (27) are re-averred and re-plead as if contained 

within this separate count for relief. 

29. On or about January 13, 2011, the Defendants begun an otherwise unfounded and 

unconstitutional pre-textual administrative inquisition of the Plaintiffs practice of law to 

seek possible technical violations of filing requirements for legal services corporation and of 

the bookkeeping Rules of Rhode Island Rules of Professional Conduct for Attorneys as 

contained in Article V of Rhode Island Supreme Court Rules, in order to place him in a false 

light as retaliation for his criticisms of the Rhode Island Supreme Court's abuse of the sole 

powers of the General Assembly and the Defendants' misuse of the sole executive powers of 
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the Governor in violation of Article V and Article VI and IX of the Rhode Island State 

Constitution. 

30. On information and belief, Defendant, Marc DeSisto was putatively appointed by Defendant 

Paul Suttell, without Rhode Island constitutional authority under Article IX of Rhode Island 

State Constitution, on the pretext of inquiring about possible bookkeeping errors in 

Plaintiff's business accounts for the last seven (7) years in order to bring a Complaint 

designed to place the Plaintiff in a false light as retaliation for the Plaintiff's advocacy of 

litigation to strip the Rhode Island Supreme Court of its unconstitutional Article IX powers 

as required by November 2004 Separation of Powers Amendments. 

31. The Defendants have no inherent constitutional or statutory powers to regulate the business 

practices of attorneys outside of court room proceedings on behalf of parties. 

32. In January of2011, Keven A. McKenna had filed notice with the Rhode Island Supreme 

Court of his statutory filing with the Rhode Island Secretary of State as a Limited Liability 

Corporation practicing law pursuant to Rhode Island General Laws § 7-16-3.1 and provided a 

copy of his malpractice policy as required. 

33. In January of2011 the corporation, Keven A. McKenna, P.C. was not engaged in the practice 

oflaw. 

34. In the winter of2011, to the best ofhis knowledge, the Plaintiffhad no client complaints 

pending against him with the Rhode Island Disciplinary Counsel. 

35. In the winter of2011, to the best of Plaintiff's knowledge, neither the R.I. Disciplinary 

Counsel nor the R.I. Disciplinary Committee were conducting an investigation of Keven A. 

McKenna for a violation of the Professional Rules of Conduct for Attorneys, as set forth in 

Article V of R.I. Supreme Court Rules. 
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36. On January 13, 2011, Defendant Suttell then, without a pending case or controversy, 

conducted an unauthorized public hearing where members of the Rhode Island Supreme 

Court, who have no regulatory authority over Keven A. McKenna's form of business, made 

negative comments about Keven A. McKenna and challenged Keven A. McKenna's 

statutory right to become a Limited Liability Corporation in an un authorized regulatory 

hearing designed to place Keven A. McKenna in a false negative light for having simply 

provided a ministerial notice changing his corporate form of law practice. 

37. As a consequence of such hearing, the Providence Journal wrote a misleading negative article 

about the Plaintiff causing him harm in his professional business. 

38. On or about February 23, 2011, in order to deny Plaintiffhis property in his stock in Keven 

A. McKenna P.C, Defendant, then subsequently, without constitutional authority, ordered 

Keven A. McKenna to cancel his stock in Keven A. McKenna P.C., which had been 

incorporated since 1996, as a condition of incorporating a new Limited Liability Corporation 

in 2011. 

39. Since the stock in the professional corporation had a retained monetary value, Plaintiff Keven 

A. McKenna withdrew his application to do business as a lawyer in a Limited Liability 

Corporation and continue to practice as Keven A. McKenna Attorney at Law; and then 

changed the purpose and name of his Limited Liability Corporation to a staff support 

corporation, McKenna Support Services, LLC, instead of a litigating corporation. 

40. On or about July 13, 2011, Defendant Suttell then, without conforming to the Rules on 

Disciplinary Procedure, Article Ill, appointed Defendant Marc DeSisto as a putative 

Assistant Disciplinary Counsel, reporting only to the Defendant, Suttell. 
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41. Defendant DeSisto does not report to Disciplinary Counsel David Curtin or act under his 

supervision, as required by Article III of the R.I. Supreme Court Rules. 

42. At the time of Defendant's Suttell appointment of Defendant DeSisto, pursuant to Rule 4(d) 

of Article III of the Rhode Island, there was no factual basis for the R.I. Disciplinary Board 

to investigate the Plaintiff. The sole request of the Chief Disciplinary Counsel. 

43. Pursuant to Rule 6 of Article III, only the Chief Disciplinary Counsel has authority to 

investigate the Plaintiff, not the Defendants Suttell and DeSisto. 

44. Neither Defendant Suttell nor any member of the R.I. Supreme Court are a member of the 

R.I. Disciplinary Board and have any statutory or constitutional authority to investigate the 

business practices of Keven A. McKenna. 

45. Defendant Suttell and members of the R.I. Supreme Court do not have constitutional 

standing to initiate complaints and then to adjudicate these same complaints they initiate 

before the R.I. Disciplinary Board whose activity is reviewed by Defendant, Suttell. 

46. Only an elected Attorney General, under Article IX §12 ofthe R.I. Constitution, not the 

Defendant Chief Justice, nor his surrogate appointee, Defendant DeSisto, has the authority to 

conduct investigation of statutory violations and to appoint attorneys to undertake 

investigations of the Plaintiff for violations of R.I. statutes. 

47. Defendant DeSisto is not an assistant disciplinary counsel because he does not report to 

Disciplinary Counsel David Curtin or act under his supervision, but he acts under the 

supervision and direction of Defendant Suttell. 

48. Pursuant to Rule 11 of Article III ofthe Supreme Court Rules on Disciplinary Procedure, 

only the Chief Disciplinary Counsel, not the Defendants DeSisto and Saunders, have 

authority to issue subpoenae under Article III of the R.I. Supreme Court Rules. 
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49. On September 12, 2011 Defendants DeSisto and Saunders issued a subpoenae duces tecum to 

Plaintiff Keven A. McKenna for all of his business records for the last seven (7) years to 

which Plaintiff McKenna responded with a motion to quash before the R.I. Disciplinary 

Board which has not been heard. 

50. On October 18, 2011, Defendants DeSisto and Saunders issued a similar subpoenae duces 

tecum to Sovereign Bank for all of the records for the last seven (7) years of Keven A. 

McKenna to which Plaintiff McKenna responded with a motion to quash before the R.I. 

Disciplinary Board which has not been heard. 

51. The Rhode Island Disciplinary Ru1es, Article III of the Rhode Island Supreme Court Ru1es, 

do not provide for the use of Deposition Subpoenae of witnesses or Subpoena Duces Tecum 

for Records for proceeding, which are not before the Rhode Island Disciplinary Board. 

52. Defendant DeSisto is without statutory or constitutional authority to undertake an 

investigation of Plaintiff Keven A. McKenna. 

53. Defendant Debra Saunders has no constitutional or statutory authority to issue Subpoena 

Duces Tecum for matters not involving a case or controversy pending before a state court or 

for matters not pending before the R.I. Disciplinary Board. 

54. Ru1e 11 of Article III ofthe Rhode Island Supreme Court Ru1es is an unconstitutional 

exercise of the sole legislative power of the General Assembly by Defendant Paul Suttell and 

does not otherwise entitle the Defendant Saunders to issue a Subpoenae at the request of 

Defendant DeSisto. 

55. Defendant DeSisto is not under the supervision of the Rhode Island Disciplinary Board. 

56. Defendant Marc DeSisto failed to follow the Rules of the Rhode Island Disciplinary Board as 

set forth in Rule 1.15 and Ru1e 11 of Article III. 
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57. The scope of the subpoenaed data is outside ofthe scope ofRule 19 of Article III since there 

has been no allegation of any violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct as set forth in 

Article V of the Rules of the Rhode Island Supreme Court. 

58. Defendants Suttell and DeSisto are attempting to bypass the Rhode Island Disciplinary Board 

and to have a private deposition of the Plaintiff and to conduct a private inquisition of the 

Plaintiff. 

59. The Plaintiff, Keven A. McKenna, has represented several criminal defendants in the last 

seven (7) years. 

60. The fmancial records of the Plaintiff contain some information about clients who were 

charged with criminal violations. 

61. Since the financial records of the Plaintiff contains some information about clients who were 

charged with criminal violations, the Subpoenae Duces Tecum issued by the Defendants, 

DeSisto and Saunders violates the purpose of Rule 3.8(f) of Article V of the Rules ofR.I 

Supreme Court, which provides that "The prosecutor in a criminal case shall * * * (f) not, 

without prior judicial approval, subpoena a lawyer for the purpose of compelling the lawyer 

to provide evidence concerning a person who is or was represented by the lawyer when such 

evidence was obtained as a result of the attorney-client relationship." 

62. The scope of the Subpoenae Duces Tecum seeking all business records for the last seven (7) 

years of the Plaintiff is unreasonable and burdensome and violates the Due Process clauses of 

the United States and Rhode Island Constitutions. 

63. The Subpoenae Duces Tecum in question violates the Fourth Amendment because the 

accounts of Keven A. McKenna created by Keven A. McKenna at the Sovereign Bank are 

"papers" and "effects" of Keven A. McKenna being subject to an unreasonable search and 
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seizure by Marc DeSisto, Debra Saunders, and Paul Suttell, under the color of law, although 

they have no statutory, constitutional, or cognizable purpose for examining the "papers" and 

"effects" of Keven A. McKenna being held in trust by the Sovereign Bank as the fiduciary of 

Keven A. McKenna. 

64. The Subpoena Duces Tecum sought by the Defendant DeSisto seeks non-client trust accounts 

owned by Keven A. McKenna without the authority of law and without any purpose other 

than retaliatory harassment. 

65. In violation of the prohibition in the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution, as 

applied to the States by Fourteenth Amendment, Defendants DeSisto, Saunders, and Suttell 

are attempting to deprive Keven A. McKenna of "property which he created to be held in 

trust by the Sovereign Bank without due process of law;" and to otherwise invade illegally 

his statutory right to privacy. 

66. The actions of the Defendants are an unconstitutional attempt to breach the protected 

confidential relationship between Keven A. McKenna and his clients in violation of Rule 1.6 

ofRhode Island Rules of Professional Conduct for Lawyers. 

67. The trust accounts at the Sovereign Bank contain confidential information regarding the 

fmancial relationship of Keven A. McKenna to his clients which are prohibited from 

disclosure by Rule 1.6 of the Rules of Professional Conduct for Lawyers Issued by Rhode 

Island Supreme Court without consent of the clients of Keven A. McKenna. 

68. The trust accounts created by Keven A. McKenna at Sovereign Bank are items which Keven 

A. McKenna expected to be private and a Subpoena Duces Tecum of those private records is 

a violation of Rhode Island General Laws§ 9-1-28.1 (1) which protects privacy rights which 

are to be secure from unreasonable intrusion upon a person's seclusion. 
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69. Defendants purported wrongfully that they are enforcing Article V. Rule 1.15. on 

Safekeeping of Property, and. Rule 1.19 on required booldceeping records. 

70. Article V. Rule 1.15 and Rule 1.19 are unconstitutional exercises ofthe separate and distinct 

Legislative Power of the General Assembly prohibited to the Defendants who are employees 

of the Judicial Branch. 

71. Article III, Rule 11 on the issuance ofsubpoenae and Article V, Rules 1.15 and 1.19 ofthe 

Rules of the Rhode Island Supreme Court are unconstitutional legislative acts by Defendant 

Suttell in violation of Article V ofthe Rhode Island Constitution and Article VI §1 and §2 of 

the Rhode Island State Constitution and are not authorized by either Article X § 17 or §2 on 

Judicial Power. 

72. In violation of Articles V, Article VI .§1 and Article VI .§2, of the Rhode Island State 

Constitution, the Defendants are exercising constitutionally prohibited legislative powers 

through Article III of their Rules purporting to regulate Plaintiff's business relationships in 

order to cause harm to Plaintiff's personal property to continue to be licensed as an attorney 

and to destroy the will of the voters, such as the Plaintiff, as expressed in their passage of the 

Separation of Powers Constitutional Amendments ofNovember 4, 2004. 

73. In violation of the First Amendment of the United States Constitution, of the Fourth 

Amendment protection of private papers, in violation of the Due Process Clause of the 

United States Constitution, in violation of Due Process Clause of the Rhode Island State 

Constitution and search and seizure clause of the Rhode Island Constitution, the Separation 

of Powers Clauses of the Rhode Island State Constitution, and in violation of the right to 

7 R.I. Const. Article X Section 1. Power vested in court. The judicial power of this state shall be vested in one 
Supreme Court, and in such inferior courts as the general assembly may, from time to time, ordain and establish. 
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petition and to seek redress clause of the Rhode Island State Constitution, the Defendants 

jointly, independently, and severally are acting under the color of state law to attempt to deny 

the Plaintiff his statutory and constitutional rights under the United States and under Rhode 

Island law in violation ofthe provisions of 42 USC §1983. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully demands that this Honorable Court provide the following 

relief against the Defendants: 

(i) Declare that the inquisition of the Plaintiff by the Defendants is a violation 

of the Plaintiff's U.S. Constitutional protections under the First 

Amendment, Fourth Amendment, Due Process Rights under the Fifth and 

Fourteen Amendment of the U.S. Constitution, and the Plaintiff's State 

Constitutional rights under Article I, § 2, the due process rights, at Article 

I §,6, the search and seizure clause, and at Article I, §21, the free speech 

and petition clause; and, of his privacy rights secured by the provisions of 

R.I.G.L.§ 9-1-28.1 (1); and to otherwise restrained the Defendants from 

any further unconstitutional acts against the Plaintiff. 

(ii) Restrain the Defendants Suttell, Saunders, and DeSisto from taking any 

further retaliatory actions against Keven A. McKenna for his free speech 

expressions protected by the United States and Rhode Island 

Constitutions; 

(iii) Declare that the Defendants lack Constitutional and statutory powers to 

issue Subpoenae Duces Tecum to the Plaintiff; 
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(iv) Quash the Subpoena Duces Tecum to the Sovereign Bank of any records 

created for Keven A. McKenna; and otherwise return such records sealed 

by the Plaintiff if the Subpoenae has been served and returned; 

(v) Declare that the Defendant Paul Suttelllacks state constitutional power to 

appoint the Defendant Marc DeSisto to otherwise perform non-judicial 

functions regulatory functions of the an elected R.I. Governor and the R.I. 

Attorney General and of an elected Legislative Branch, as provided in the 

Rhode Island State Constitution; and to stay the investigatory actions of 

Defendant DeSisto of Keven A. McKenna. 

(vi) Declare the Rule 11 of Article III of the Rhode Island Supreme Court 

Rules of Disciplinary Procedure as an unconstitutional use by the 

Defendant Suttell of the legislative regulatory powers reserved to the 

General Assembly. 

(vii) Declare that Rules 1.15 and 1.19 of Article V ofthe Rules ofRhode Island 

Supreme Court are an exercise of unconstitutional legislative powers by 

Defendant Paul Suttell of constitutional powers reserved to the R.I. 

General Assembly. 

(viii) Enjoin the Defendants from invading the privacy rights of the Plaintiff and 

interfering with his constitutional rights as secured by the United States 

and Rhode Island Constitutions. 

(ix) Award the Plaintiffto 42 USC §1988 reasonable attorneys' fees and costs. 

(x) Provide such other Relief which is just and equitable. 
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Ke nA. e a, Esqu· ( 
23 Acorn Street 
Providence, Rhode Island 02903 
Tel.: (401) 273-8200 
Fax: (401) 521-5820 
E-Mail: keven@kevenmckem1apc.com 

Count II 
Unconstitutional Statutes In 

Violation of State Separation of Powers. 

74. Averments one (1) through seventy-three (73) are re-averred as if included within this Count. 

75. The Defendants Suttell, Baxter, and Walsh, through the unconstitutional statutory powers 

contained in R.I.G.L. § 8-15-2 and R.I.G.L §8-15-4 and R.I.G.L §8-15-9, are exercising the 

sole executive powers reserved to the Governor pursuant to §1, §2, and §15 and §16 of 

Article IX of the Rhode Island State Constitution in violation of the constitutional supremacy 

clause contained in Article VI, 1 of the R.I. Constitution, in order to destroy democracy in 

Rhode Island and to harm the Plaintiff and other similarly situated Rhode Island citizens, 

who have not delegate such royal powers to the Defendants. 

76. Plaintiff is a member of a class of voters who, by their votes, have enacted the Rhode Island 

State Constitution Separation of Powers Clauses as a prohibition of the exercise of royal 

tyrannial powers in Rhode Island; and have by their votes enacted the constitutional 

amendments on separation of powers to limit the powers of the Rhode Island Judiciary solely 

to adjudication in order to protect their individual rights from royal tyranny by unelected 

appointed persons with life terms called judges. 
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77. The members of the class of voters exceed four hundred (400,000) thousand voters and are 

too numerous to join as Plaintiffs and the Plaintiff by education and experience is appropriate 

to represent their interests in this litigation. 

78. The Rhode Island Attorney General is constitutionally conflicted from representing the 

interests of the voters of Rhode Island because he has become the institutional defender in 

past matters of the non judicial activities of members of the Rhode Island Supreme Court 

including Defendant, Suttell, in a not too subtle attempt to pander favor from the members of 

the Court in their adjudicatory functions. 

79. Defendants Suttell, Baxter, and Walsh, in violation of the Separate and Distinct Clause 

contained in Article V, the Rhode Island Constitutional Supremacy Clause contained in 

Article VI, § 1 are unconstitutionally attempting to enforce the provisions of Rhode Island 

General Laws R.I.G.L. §35-3-5 which provides that "Itemized estimates of the financial 

needs of the *** the judiciary shall be submitted, without revision.,. by the budget officer to 

the governor on or before the first day of October for inclusion in the budget; and that the 

Governor shall submit the fmancial needs as requested by ***judiciary without revision for 

inclusion in the budget recommendation to the general assembly;" because those provisions 

are in conflict with the provisions of Article IX § 158 which provide exclusive Gubernatorial 

powers over the State Budget. 

80. The Defendant, Debra Saunders is a principal officer ofthe State ofRhode Island as the 

Chief Clerk of the Rhode Island Supreme Court, who was unconstitutionally appointed by 

8 R.I. Const. Article IX § 15 The governor shall prepare and present to the general assembly an annual, consolidated 
operating and capital improvement state budget. 
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Defendant Paul Suttell, without the authority of the Governor under Article IX §59 of the R.I. 

Constitution. 

81. Defendant J. Joseph Baxter, Jr. is a principal officer ofthe State ofRhode Island as State 

Court Administrator, who was unconstitutionally appointed by Defendant Paul Suttell in 

violation of the power of the Governor to make such appointment pursuant to Article IX, §5 

of the Rhode Island State Constitution. 

82. Defendant Deborah Walsh is a principal officer of the State ofRhode Island, as State 

Director of Court Finance and Assistant Administrator for Finance and Budget, who was 

unconstitutionally appointed by Defendant Paul Suttell in violation of the power of the 

Governor to make such appointment pursuant to Article IX, §5 of the Rhode Island State 

Constitution. 

83. Defendant Suttell, in violation of the Separate and Distinct Clause contained in Article V 10 

and the Rhode Island Constitutional Supremacy Clause contained in Article VI § 1, through 

the unconstitutional provisions of Rhode Island General Laws§ 8-15-411
, appointed J. 

Joseph Baxter, Jr., the Director of Court Administration, in conflict with the appointive 

powers of the Governor contained in Section 5 of Article IX because the position of the 

9
R.I. Const.§ 5. Powers of appointment. The governor shall, by and with the advice and consent of the senate, 

appoint all officers of the state whose appointment is not herein otherwise provided for and all members of any 
board, commission or other state or quasi-public entity which exercises executive power under the laws of this state; 
but the general assembly may by law vest the appointment of such inferior officers, as they deem proper, in the 
governor, or within their respective departments in the other general officers, the judiciary or in the heads of 
departments. 
10 R.I. Const. Article V of the Distribution of powers. The powers of the government shall be distributed into three 
separate and distinct departments: the legislative, executive and judicial. 
11 R.I.G.L.§8-15-4. Appointment of court administrator and assistants. (a) The chief justice shall appoint a court 
administrator and such assistants as he or she deems necessary to aid in the administration of the judicial system. 
The administrator and his or her assistants shall serve at the pleasure of the chief justice. (b) The court administrator 
shall, under the direction of the chief justice, prepare an annual budget for the judicial system and submit the budget 
to the department of administration and perform all other necessary functions relating to the administration ofthe 
courts thereof. 
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Director of Court Administration is a principal officer of the State of Rhode Island, which 

may only be appointed by an elected chief executive officer of the State, the Governor. 

84. Defendant Suttell, in violation of the Separate and Distinct Clause contained in Article V 12
, 

the Rhode Island Constitutional Supremacy Clause contained in Article VI § 1, through 

provisions of Rhode Island General Laws §8-4-2 and §8-4-3, appointed Defendant Debra 

Saunders as the Clerk of the Supreme Court, in constitutional conflict with the appointive 

powers of the Governor contained in Article IX §5 because the Clerk of the Supreme Court is 

a principal officer of the State and whose position has in the past been appointed by the 

Governor. 

85. Defendant Suttell, in violation of the Separate and Distinct Clause contained in Article V 

and the Rhode Island Constitutional Supremacy Clause contained in Article VI § 1, through 

the unconstitutional provisions ofR.I.G.L.§ 8-15-2.1 13,unconstitutionally appointed the Chief 

Judge of the Rhode Island Traffic Tribunal, in conflict with the appointive powers clause of 

the Governor contained in Article IX §5 because the position of Chief Judge of the Rhode 

Island Traffic Tribunal is a principal state officer of the State of Rhode Island, which only 

may be appointed by an elected chief executive official ofthe State, the Governor. 

86. Defendant Suttell, in violation of the Separate and Distinct Clause contained in Article V 

regarding the separate functions of the Judiciary contained in Article X and of the Governor 

set forth in Article IX, and in the Rhode Island Constitutional Supremacy Clause contained in 

Article VI § 1, through the unconstitutional provisions of Rhode Island General Laws 8-15-

12 ARTICLE V OF THE DISTRIBUTION OF POWERS The powers of the government shall be distributed into 
three separate and distinct departments: the legislative, executive and judicial. 
13 R.I.G.L.§ 8-8.2-l.The chief magistrate of the traffic tribunal shall be appointed by the chief justice of the supreme 
court, with the advice and consent of the senate, for a period often (10) years and until a successor is appointed and 
qualified. 
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914 and Rhode Island General Laws §8-15-5, appointed "an advisory board of the four (4) 

associate justices to consult with him on administrative matters and to vote for the 

appointment of the Defendant, Director of Finance Walsh; in further conflict with the 

separate and distinct judicial powers of the members of the Supreme Court contained in 

Article X to only adjudicate and in further conflict with the appointment powers of the 

Governor for principal officers contained in § 5 of Article IX. 

87. The Defendants, jointly, independently and severally are exercising unconstitutional 

administrative and legislative powers which interfere with the Voter, the Liberty and 

Property interests of the Plaintiff and the voters of Rhode Island as protected by the 

Fourteenth and Fifth Amendment Due Process Clauses and by Article I, 2 of the Rhode 

Island State Constitution and as protected by the provisions of 42 U.S.C. §1983. 

88. In violation of Articles V, Article VI §1 15 and Article VI §2, Article IX, §1 , §2, §5, ofthe 

Rhode Island State Constitution, the Defendants are jointly exercising constitutionally 

prohibited Executive Powers of appointment and budget through their wrongful exercise of 

the provisions of Rhode Island General Laws §8-15-2, § 8-15-2.1,8-15-4, 8-15-15, Rhode 

Island General Laws 35-6-1(6), Rhode Island General Laws§ 36-4-16.4, R.I.G.L §35-3-5, 

Rhode Island General Laws §35-3-1 (c) and Rhode Island General Laws §35-3-1 (c) to 

cause harm to the Plaintiffs liberty interests and personal property and to destroy the will of 

14 R.I.G.L. §8-15-9. ***The director ofthe finance section shall be appointed by the chief justice of the supreme 
court, and approved by a majority vote of the advisory board. The director of the finance section shall monitor the 
handling, collection, receipt, and disbursement of all court imposed or court related fees, fmes, costs, assessments, 

charges, and other monetary payments, deposits, and receipts,***. 
15 R.I. Const.§l. Constitution supreme law of the state. This Constitution shall be the supreme law of the state, and 
any law inconsistent therewith shall be void. The general assembly shall pass all laws necessary to carry this 
Constitution into effect. 
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the voters, such as expressed by the Plaintiff, and as expressed in the voters' passage of the 

Separation of Powers Constitutional Amendments of November 4, 2004. 

89. The ultra vires actions of the Defendants against the Plaintiff and the concentration of 

legislative regulatory, executive , appointive , administrative, and budgetary powers in the 

life time adjudicatory position of the Defendant Suttell are a clear and present danger to the 

exercise of the democratic freedoms of Plaintiff which are otherwise protected by United 

States and Rhode Island Constitution from abuse by the exercise of royalty powers by the 

judiciary; and have caused and will cause irreparable harm to the Plaintiff and the members 

of the Plaintiff class to which the Plaintiffs as a class have no other adequate remedy at law. 

90. The Defendant, Chief Justice Suttell has an inherent constitutional conflict of interest in 

attempting to adjudicate unconstitutional administrative powers delegated to himself. 

91. The Plaintiff is without an adequate remedy at law to seek a fair adjudication of his claims 

under the Due Process Clause of the United States under than this Honorable United States 

Court. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands that this Honorable Court declare the following statutes 

unconstitutional under the Rhode Island Constitution and enjoin the Defendants from enforcing 

such statutes. 

i. Declare that the provisions of Rhode Island General Laws §8-15-216 and Rhode Island 

General Laws §8-15-4 (b)§ 8-15-2.1,8-15-4, 8-15-15, Rhode Island General Laws §35-6-

1(6), Rhode Island General Laws § 36-4-16.4, R.I.G.L §35-3-5, Rhode Island General 

Laws §35-3-1 ( c) and Rhode Island General Laws §35-3-1 ( c ) granting executive 

16 R.I.G.L § 8-15-2. Executive head of system. The chief justice ofthe Supreme Court shall be the executive head of 
the judicial system. 
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powers to the Defendant Chief Justice are in conflict with Article IX §1 17 ,§2 §12, §15 

and §16 of the R.I. State Constitution and are void; and otherwise enjoin Defendants 

Suttell, Baxter and Walsh from exercising such unconstitutional powers; 

ii. Declare that the provisions of Rhode Island General Laws R.I.G.L.§S-15-4 authorizing 

the Defendant Chief Justice of the Rhode Island Supreme Court to appoint the State 

Court Administrator to be in conflict with Article IX §5 authorizing the Governor to 

appoint principal state officers and to enjoin Defendant Suttell from making any further 

appointments and enjoin Defendant Baxter from utilizing such position until he is 

appointed the Governor and approved by the State Senate. 

iii. Declare that Rhode Island General Laws §8-15-9 (Appointing the Director of Finance) 

authorizing the Chief Justice and members of the R.I. Supreme Court to appoint a the 

Director of Finance for the Judiciary to be in conflict with Article IX §5 authorizing 

Governor to make such appointment and thus void ;and otherwise enjoin the Defendant 

Chief Justice from making such appointment again of a principal officer and enjoin such 

principal office, Defendant Walsh, from holding such position until appointed by the 

Governor and approved by the Rhode Island Senate. 

1v. Declare that Rhode Island General Laws§8-4-2 and R.I.G.L.§8-4-3 (Appointment of the 

Clerk of Supreme Court) authorizing the Defendant Suttell to appointment the Clerk, are 

in conflict with Article IX§5 authorizing the Governor to make such appointment and 

thus, are void; and otherwise enjoin the Defendant Chief Justice from making any further 

appointment of such principal officer and enjoin Defendant Saunders from holding such 

position until appointed by the Governor and approved by the Rhode Island Senate; 

17 R.I. Const. Article IX § 1. Power vested in governor. The chief executive power of this state shall be vested in a 

governor, who, together with a lieutenant governor, shall be elected by the people. 
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v. Declare that Rhode Island General Laws § 8-15-3.1 (Appointment of Chief Judge of 

Traffic Tribunal) is in conflict with Article IX §5 authorizing the Governor to make such 

appointment; and thus is void; and enjoin the Defendant Chief Justice from making any 

further appointments under such statute; 

vi. Declare that Rhode Island General Laws §35-3-5 (Sole Budget Presentation) is conflict 

with Article IX § 15 and is void, and enjoin the Defendant Chief Justice of the Rhode 

Island Supreme Court and his appointed Defendant State Court Administrator and 

Defendant State Court Finance Administrator from enforcing such unconstitutional 

statute; 

vii. Declare that Rhode Island General Laws §8-15-5 (Appointing Justices for Administrative 

Advice) is in conflict with Article IX §5 and Article X and is void and enjoin the 

Defendant Chief Justice from enforcing such statute; 

viii. Declare that the Plaintiff is representative member of class whose vote on separation of 

powers in 2004 as been voided by the unconstitutional actions of the Defendants; 

ix. Provide such other relief which is just and equitable. 

PLAINTIFF DEMAND TRIAL BY JURY 
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